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The plot of the sophisticated son in law:
old and new ways in establishing rights
over land in N'zara (North Togo)

Emile van Rouveroy van Niewwaal and Els van Rouvercy van Niewwaal-Bae-
rends

(NTRODUCTION

This contribution deals with the acquisition of rights to land as it arose during
a land dispute seitlement in N'Zara, the capital of the circonscription of
Mango in Northern Togo.' The agreement was concluded according to folk
land law, but was brought into the sphere of national law by the user of the
land when he insisted that the land be measured by the Jand registry office and
that a formal contract be dsawi up which would later on be inscribed into the
so-called fivrer foncier at Lomé (capital of Togo), Due to the unbecoming
behaviour of the tenant (Daudu). he agreement was dissolved by the Justice
of the Peace. The land then reverted to the person who owned it before the
agreement (Issifu).

This was the state of affairs in June 1972. A land law reform which came
into force in 1974, seems to favour the tenant, because the point of departure
of this reform is, that land belongs Lo those who can profitably exploit it. But
it is doubitul whether Daudu’s chances are as rosy as they seem 10 appear.
For in the years 1976-1978 various incideols occurred at Jocal level which
undermined his position socially wnd which directly influenced his chances of
ceturning to the land permanently

After a thorough overview of the past history in which among other things
the social relationships of the people concerned are touched upon, there
follows a description of the dispute scttlement in 1971, by the highest traditio-
nal authorily in the circonscription, the Paramount Chict, and by the Justice
of the Peace in 1972, This is followed by a summary of the local events uatil
1978 which influenced the course of the dispute. Finally we highlight a few
points in this dispute which, in our opinion, are of greater importance than is
apparent in Wi one case in whe north of Toge
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THE ANUFOM

The Anufom’ constitute one of the smallest ethnic groups in Togo. Accor-
ding 10 the 1958-1960 census there were approximately 20,000 of them in
Togo. They are found mainly in, and about, the city of N'zara, formerly an
important trading centre. Nowadays, it is 4 place of far less importance and
has been surpassed in various respects by Lama-Kara in the south and by
Dapadn (= Dapango) in the extreme north, on the border with Bourkina
ara itsell has & population of about 10,000 of which 70% are
Anufom and the remainder, Ngam Ngam, Haussa and various ather groups.

The Anufo society consists of three classes, of which membership is
hereditary in the male line. The karamom (sing. karamo, lcarned mustim) and
the donzom (sing. donzo, a nobleman, cf. Cissé 1964; Delafosse 1955 470) are
both descended from the Dyula from Mali. The class which is socially on the
lowest rank but also numerically the strongest, the ngyem (sing. ngye) are
descended from the Agni-Baulé (cf. Rey-Hulman 1975:20). The donzom have
been military and palilical leaders since time ‘immemorial’; thus the Para-
mount Chief and the ward heads in N'zara belong to this class. Formerly, the
ngyem were foot soldiers and they have devoted all their energics o agricul-
ture. The karamom form a small spiritual elite from among whom the
spiritual (religious) leaders like, for example, the Imam of N'zara, are chosen
(see Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal and Van Rouveroy van Niewaal-Baerends
1974, 1985)

Conversion to Islam was initially limited 1o the karamom and a few donzam
lineages. It was only at the beginning of this century that the cntire donzom
class and the majority of the ngye lincages were converted. In this respect, the
picture here s identical with that which occurred elsewhere in West Africa: it
was ouly in the 18th and 19th centuries that Islam spread beyond the elite
Nowadays. almost all the Anufom in N'zara have been converted to Islam.
However, in the rural areas Islam is as yet of no consequence 10 the people,
including the Anufom (cf. Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal and Van Rouveroy
van Nicuwaal-Bacrends 1976: 17)

When, at the beginning of the [9th century, the Anufom gained control
over N'zara and the surrounding territory. the land was divided by the
Paramount Chicf and remaining military leaders, among the various patri-li-
ncages which covstituted the army. The Paramount Chief was to be explicitly
infarmed about any transfer of the usufructat any later stage, because he was
also responsible for dividing the land. Eventoday, when he no longer has this
responsibility, the transfer of the usufruct without the cooperation of the
Paramount Chicf has no legality at least in 5o far as land in N'zara is
concerned.* For the issuing of a so-called cerrificat administratif, as we shall
sce, the administration also demands the cooperation of the Paramount
Chief. In that way, folk Jaw practice is sanctioned by the administration
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Through conquest the Anufom did indeed acquire usufructuary rights to
the land, but they could not enter into the same supernatural relationship
with the land as had been the case with the previous landowners, the Ngam
Ngam (cf. Van Rouveroy van Nieuwaal 1979b). This religious bond between
the original inhabitants and the land is still recognized by the Anufom,
because at the request of the Anufom the original owner of the land (ashy?fo:
ashyé: land; /o: denotes possession) makes an annual sacrifice (o the earth
spirits (amoé, pl. amoem), in order 1o ensure the fertility of the land and the
welfare of its inhabitants.

On those picces of land on which the patrilineal descent groups® live as a
unit in the urban area, they have the exclusive right of occupation. Members
of other patrilincal descent groups (or strangers) must explicitly ask for
permission from the head of the maximal lineage if they wish to settle on the
land of a descent group. Land has hecome scarce as a result of population
increase.” Boundary disputes in various territories of the lineages occur
frequently. Strangers like the Haussa and the Yoruba, who have enjoyed
hospitality for generations on end and have also formed kinship ties with the
Anufom, are now told that the land is needed for personal use and for the
extension of compounds. But in such cases the authorities try to protect the
strangers against these practices.

N'zara is divided into wards. There are three wards: Dyabu, Sangbana and
Fomboro, in which the chief inhabitants are Anufom. The fourth ward,
Zongo, is the ward of the strangers; the head of this ward comes directly
under the authority of the Anufo Paramount Chief. The division of the wards
can be traced back to the composition of the army, when the Anufom left
their area of origin in Ano. The nucleus of each of these military units was
formed by a patrilincage which belonged to the class of the donzom. After the
conquest of the present-day N'zara, the military leaders divided the urban
area and apportioned tracts to those families of free soldiers under their
command and to the families of the learned muslim class

In pre-colonial days there was, in all probability, no clear-cut division into
wards. But it was a fact that numerically large patrilineages such as Dyabu,
Badara, Gono, Kambaya and Assadoro did, and still do, exist, and each of
them concluded separate alliances with other patrilineages of the same class
as themselves and with the patrifincages of the free soldicrs. This gave rise to
certain territorial spheres of influence with the above mentioned lincages
forming the nuclei. The colonial authorities turned these territories into
administrative wards, with the lineages of Dyabu, Sangbana and Ango
constituting the nuclei of the wards, Dyabu, Sangbana and Fomboro respec-
tively.
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THE DISPUTE

Kossi ssifu Mpo comes from Padori, a small village under the smoke of
N'zara. He is an ex-soldier from the colonial army of the former English
colony, the Gold Coast (Ghana). After his discharge from military service,
round about (960, he settled in N'zara. in the area of the patri-clan Mamshi,
10 which also his kin in Padori belonged. A part of this kin from Padori have
resettled themselves in kinship with the patri-clan of Mamshi but recognize
the head as a descendant of their founding house. They still perform various
ceremonial events, such as funerals, births and marriages, within the patri-
clan of Mamshi

Disputes which cannat be internally settled with satisfaction willin the first
instance be presented 10 the head of Mamshi and subsequently to the ward
head and finally to the Paramount Chicf. The situation is slightly more
complicated due 10 the fact that Mamshi is situated on the very extended
territory of the donzo patri-clan, the patri-clan Badara, Before land and
boundary disputes reach the Paramount Chief (or ward head), they are first
presented €0 a council of family elders from Badara. In every phase of the
conflict mentioned below, the council of the lineage elders from Badara have
played an important role

Issifu moved in with his classificatory younger brother, Yaka (father’s
brother's son). Both belong 10 the smaller lineage of Buebu-deka,  segment
of the Mamshi patri-clan. Yak recognized his brother as his superior. At
least, ne did so initially, both because of his seniority and also on account of
his position as ‘ancien combattant’. Aftcrwards, as we shall see, when the rift
between them could no longer be healed, because of the dispute with Daudu,
Yaka denies that his brother has any authority over him. Thus he contests the
fact that lssifu is entitled to transfer the rights to lincage land to  third party
or that he can stop it from being done. This is an important point in the
dispute. We failed 10 obtain further detailed information about the kinship
ties between Issifu and Yaka than is presented here. Itis possible that Issifu,
as is contended by Yaki, is only a guest who, in times gone by, obtained
pesmission to settle in Bucbu-deka, on account of his position as a soldier in
the coonial army, and that his residence rights are tied up with him personal-
ly. Yakd maintains that this is disguised by Mamshi and Badara in their
political opposition 1o the karamo patri-clan of Kambaya (see hereafter)

Members of the patri-clan Mamshi belong to the ngye class. They are
granted hospitality when they settle on the land of the numerically and
politically very important donzo patri-clan, Badara (¢f. Yan Rouveroy van
Nieuwaal and Van Rouveroy van Niewwaal-Bacrends (979, 1980). Conse-
quently, they maintain a client relationship with Badara, which among other
things finds expression, as pointed out earlicr on, in the fact that members of
Manmshi first present their disputes to the lineage elders from Badara before
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involving higher authority of the ward head or Paramount Chief. In addition,
members of the Mamshi patri-clan have also given women in marriage (o the
socially higher placed donzom of the patri-clan Badara.’ On the other hand,
the patrilincage of Issifu is also strongly associated with the karamo patri-
clan of Kambaya. Muslims from this house, in particular [mam Al Hadji Sani
Abdualye (cf. Van Rouveroy van Nieuwaal and Van Rouveroy van Nicu-
waal-Baerends 1974, 1985), who died in 1970, succeeded in converting mem-
bers of the house of Mamshi 10 Islam, at the lime of their leaving Padori to
resettle in N'zara. By way of appreciation, Issifu’s (ather had, at thal time,
marsied off his daughter 1o the Imam. The Imaw did not marry her personal-
Ty, but instcad gave her in marriage to Abudu, the son of a slave who was
incorporated into the tineage of the lmam. On the basis of this marriage. all
the male members of the house of the Imam became kin to Issifu, including
Daudu, one of the chicf personages in this dispute.

Diagram [
MAMSHI
KAMBAYA
Al 1Iadji Sani Abdulaye Bulare Mpo Kotfi Tdrissa
o b
Al Hadji Yaya Nadana  Abudu Issifc Yaki Nadana

A
Daudu

Daudu became kin to Issifu not only on the basis of the marriage between
Nadana and Abudu, but also because of the fact that he was once married to
Abiba, a woman from the patri-clan Tundyarassu (housc of weavers) and
who, like the elan of Mamshi, are also situated on the territory of the clan of
Badara, Issifu is kin to Tundyarassu via his father’s sister, a certain Songbé
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who was once married to Mama from the clan of Tundyarassu. The marriage
between Abiba and Daudu was, however, dissolved and the woman remar-
ried someone from Wogou, a small village in the canton of Gando to the
south-cast of N'zara. Nevertheless, because of this marriage relationship,
Issifu was addressed by Daudu as ashibye, literally: my father-in-law/my
kin*

Diagram (1
KAMBAYA TUNDYARASSU MAMSHI
A A I 1
Al Hadji Sani Abdulaye Mams Songbt Mpo
Al Hadji Yora Namassa [
Daudu # Abiba

(divorced)

On the basis of these kinship ties? with the clan of Kambaya and because of
their respect for the former lincage head, the late Al Hadji Sani Abdulaye,
Tssifu and his brother Yaka, in the presence of another classificatory brother
of Yuka, one Adam, agreed in 1968-1969 to the request by Daudu’s father
Yaya toeede a picce of land to Daudu on which Daudu would then be entitled
1o build a house. Daudu would then go and live there since the space within
his own compound had become too small and he wanted more room for his
family somewhere clse.

Yaya, as Daudu’s father, initiated the negotiations concerning the use of
the land. He concluded it by giving the customary gifts, namely, 500 frs.cfa
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(F'T 10) and a calabash of cola nuts. These gifts also serve to confirm [ssifu’s
rights (0 the land. Right from the beginning it was crystal clear that there
would be 110 transfer of property rights nor would the land be sold to Daudu,
but that he ooty had the usufruct, with the sole purpose of building a house
for his own personal use. All partics were agreed upon this. Daudu aiso
admitted this was so. When we ursetves, that is my wife and I, hired Daudu’s
house in 1971 and sent the gardener 10 grow some corn Daudu prevented this
saying that he was afraid of getting into trouble: ‘car je 0'ai pas requ la
parcelle pour ga (for 1 did not receive the plot of land for that purpose)

After sealing the agreement, Daudu, in his capacity as cierk employed by
the local administration in N'zara, sent a written request to the Chef de fa
Circonseription (District Officer, since 1981 called the Prefect) to issue him
with a so-called cerrificar administrarif. ‘This document is the first step to-
wards a series of formalities which eventually lead 10 the registration of rights
1o land in the livret foncier (cf. Gasse 1971) at Lomeé. This certificat concerns
the secession of rights of usufruct.'”

Before the issuing of such a certificat can be legalized by the administra-
tion, a map must be drawn of the piece of land by the local survey depart-
ment. Daudu had these measurements done and consequently levelled the
land with a bulldozer. As a final touch. he placed concrete poles and planted
in order o demarcate quite clearly his plot from Issifu’s. The latier
witnessed this with mounting ircitation, especially since Daudu went about
his business withoat prior cansultation with him or his brothers. He interpre-
ted Daud’s actions 4s averplaying his hand, as occupation of the land. Yet,
at tis stage, maybe on account of the difference of social class, Issifu did not
care 10 raise the matter with Daudu. When some time later, both of them
appeared before the District Officer (the Prefect) 1o sign the cerrificat (for
Issifu a thumbprint) there still appeared no serious differences of opinion
Nevertheless, Issifu realized then already, that through this formal, and
high-handed action of Daudu, the essence of the agreement had practically
changed into one of transfer of ownership and that his rights (and those of his
lineage) had receded. As a clerk conversant with administrative matters,
Daudu, according to his own words, had, through this cerrificat, only made
sure of the usufruct, partly spurred on by the increasing demand for building
tand in N'zara. Daudu did not add that he was aware of the fact that by
measuring the fand his rights 1o it were more secure according to the codified
concepls of national law than it could ever be in terms of local folk law. Yet,
Daudu backed up Issife’s statement, even in frant of the Justice of the Peace
(1o whom he later appealed), that there was never any talk of transfer of
ownership or sale of the land, and that both patties never intended doing
anything of this kind

During the negotiations with Yaya concerning the use of the land, it was
determined that the plot should be made available for the building of a house

tre
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for Davdu himself. The certificar reads: “in order to build a house there of
whatever construction”. As a result the question as to whether Daudu might
also rent his house was left open. In all probability, the contents of the
certificat hardly got through to Issifu. He neither speaks nor understands
French and it is debateable whether the contents of the certificar were
properly translated. What happened in reality?

After the demarcation of the tervitory, Daudu had a house built with a
corrugated roof. He rented out the house for the first months of 1971 to us
and later 10 a schoolteacher from the South of Togo, who was stationed at
that time in N'zara, Daudu made no attempt 1o move into the house himself,
not cven when it remained empty for several months. Issifu received not 2
peany from the rent

Issifu understood Daudu’s desire 1o regain some of the building costs, but
he did not hide the fact that he found the renting of the house against the
agreement. Their relations cooled; yet the class differences between them and
bis great respect for the patri-clan of Kambaya, resteained him from institu-
ting procesdings against Daudu. When, however, Daudu started courting
Issifu’s second wife, that was the last straw. This woman is the daughter of
Issifu’s mother's brother und it was a marriage between cross-cousins.! The
marriage between Issifu and his wife was in a very bad state. They often
quarrcled vehemently and the woman had left her husband on several occa-
sions. Rumours had it, that the quarrels were duc 1o Issifu’s impotency,
caused by the fact that he did not fulfill a promise made 10 his deceased father.
B that as it may, he had no children with her. nor with his first wife. Issifu
suffered badly from this reproach and cowered from the mocking stares of
those around him. The behaviour of his in-law was a slap in the face. Abudu,
from the patri-clan of Kambaya, on several occasions had succeeded in
bringing about a reconciliation, but when the woman ran away for the fifth
time, Abudu failed to bring her back.'. Also Yaki's younger brother Adam,
who came over from Ghana especially for the dispute, was unable to per-
suade her 10 return to her husband’s compound. She no longer wished (0
leave Daudu. She was, after all, pregaant and had moved in with him. After
this their alliance was concluded according to fslam rituals (cf. Van Rouveroy
van Nicuwaal 1976a: 149-151),

Generally Daudu’s behaviour was denounced - especially by members of
the house of Badara. In addition, one should bear in mind, that their relations
with Daudu’s father, who was to become Tmam of N'zara in 1975, were bad
“Therefore, members of the patri-clan of Badara exerted pressure on Issifu (o
finally call Daudu Lo Lask. Issifu, caught between the pressure from Badara
and his respect and affection for the late Imam Al Hadji Sani Abdulaye (who
died on the lath of August [970) and his son, Yaya, although reluctant,
finally decided in March 1971 1o take the case 1o the Paramount Chief of the
Anufom (Na Tyaba Tyekura Paramount Chiel of the Anufom from 6th
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December 1963 (o 19th September 1977; cf. Van Rouveroy van Nieuwaal,
1980, Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal and Van Rouveroy van Nieuwaal-Bac-
rends 1979).

THE DISPUTE SETTLEMENT

Issifu took the dispute o the Paramount Chief Na Tyaba Tyekura who
pointed out to him that, as a kadashi (paper/letter) was drawn up of the
agreement between fssifu and Daudu, it actually fell within the sphere of the
nazara sherea, literally the ‘jurisdiction of the whites’ (cf. Van Rouveroy van
Nieuwaal 1976b). By t meant the administration of justice of the
Tribunal Coutumier de Premiére Instance, in short that of its chairman, the
Tustice of the Peace (Juge de Paix). There were also other reasons why the
Paramount Chief wanted o avoid settling the disput
- Daudu is kin o the Chief, because his father's younger brother is married
10 a daughter of the Chiel. Consequently, Daudu addresses the Chief as
*my father-in-law* (see Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal and Van Rouveroy
van Nieuwaal-Bacrends 1976: 17); morcover, Daudu’s mother hails from
the Chie’s patri-lineage;
the house of Kambaya is one of the most important karamo houses in the
city (at least it was al the time of the dispute):
~ the Imam of N'zara is usually chosen from their midst and the candidate
for this office at the time of the dispute settlement was Daudu's father,
Yaya. Before their emigration from the Ivory Coast, the donzo leaders
concluded a solemn agreement with 2 few karamom which, among other
things, meant that the karamom with their knowledge of magic and
astrology helped the donzom, without this implying their aspiring to
political power. For their part, the donzom provided the karamom with
protection without interfering in their internal disputes and matters
concerning Islam. This solemn agreement prevented the Paramount Chief
from judging the dispute between Issifu and Daudu in public (i.e. in his
court, especially since he would also be forced to summon Yaya);
~ finally, at the time of the dispute, relations between the Paramount Chief
and Yaya were themselves tense
One of Yaya's younger brothers had courted one of the rejected women of
the Paramount Chicf and had gone tolive with her. This is a serious breach
of the rule that no one should start a relationship with the wifc of a
Paramount Chief, irrespective of whether she is divorced from him or not.
The general belief is that a man who starts a relationship with the wife of
the Paramount Chief will be smitten by disease or death, if the adulterer
does ot leave the city before the death of the Paramount Chief. Moreover,
Yaya’s younger brother is a classificatory son-in-law of the Paramount
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Chief, because one of his daughters is married o a younger half-brother of

Yaya, a5 a result of which all the direct kin of Yaya are also kin of the

Chief, and they owe him respect as ‘their father-in-law". The Chief let it be

known that he no longer wished to see Yaya's brother in the palace until

Yaya had put an end 10 the objectionable relationship. For one reason or

the other, Yaya hesitated 10 do 0.

The Paramount Chicl met Issifu half-way by considering the dispute, in
camera, but not in the courtroom. In this way he signified that the dispute
should be regarded s an awury dyéré, that is a dispute (dyré) in the lincage
(awura). In such a case litigants do not pay the costs of the suit (le mwa)'*
During the gathering, the atmosphere was lense. Yaya, gencrally 4 compo-
sed, somewhat introverted man, was irritated and ill at case, not only on
account of the faux-pas of his younger hrother in respect to the Paramount
Chief, but also because of the fact that the socially lower ngye (Issifu) had
dared 10 summon him before the Paramount Chicf.

The Chief too was ill at easc and wanted to get rid of the case as quickly as
possible. He started with a direct attack on Yaya and Daudu: he wanted
convineing proof that Issifu had rejected his wife as was averred. According
to them it was lssifu himself who had dissolved the marriage. He was
supposed 10 have said 10 a brother of his wife thal he no longer wished 1o
regard her as his wife. Issifu is supposed o have added that, as far as he was
concerned, she ‘could marry whamsoever she wished'. For these reasons
Yaya did not regard the behaviour of his son as incorreet, but he did concede
that Daudu publicly flaunted his visits to the woman, and thus greatly
offended Issifu

Issifu cmphatically denied that he had rejected his wife. By way of evidence
be advanced the fact that neither his wife's father, nor the fmam of N'zara
knew about the rejection. And that would have been the least he could do. In
the ease of a masriage concluded according to Muslim law, it is even compul-
sory to inform the fmam,

None of the court members found Yaya's evidence convincing. The Para-
mount Chief intimated this quite clearly by asking sarcastically whether ‘the
fact that someone hangs out his sleeping mat to dry in the sun is sufficicnt
evidence 1o assume that the husband no longer wants his wife’

Both parties accepted the suggestion that Abudu should once again be
asked (0 bring about a recanciliation between the couple. The court in-
structed Yaya to admonish his son not to continue the relationship. The
reconciliation was fixed for a period of two weeks after the sefllement (the
end of June 1971). In December 1971 there was still no reconciliation. The
woman had definitely moved in with Daudu and Issifu decided to take the
dispute 10 the Justice of the Peace, a stale court established in N'zara in 1965,
in terms of the law of Judicial Organization of 12 June 1964 (cf. Van
Rouveroy van Niewwaal 1975: 5-8).
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TH¥ TRIBUNAL COUTUMIER DE PREMIERE INSTANCE

When Issifu took the case 10 the Justice of the Peace in December 1971, it was

00 longer his intention to get his wife back asin Junc of that year, but he now

wanted Daudu to be stripped of the usufruct of the tand on account of his

misbehaviour. After four longdrawn out sessions - sometimes adjourned
because Yaya was not well, on other oceasions again because the Justice of
the Peace wanted to make a local inspection - judgement was pronounced on
the 13th of April 1972. The official record reveals the following judgement
the court considered the evidence produced by Daudn 1o show Tssifu's
cejection of his wife to be inconclusive. In answer to Lhe question of the

Tustice of the Peace as to whether Daudu had undertaken steps to ask the

woman’s father for her hand in marriage, Daudu answered negatively

This was held against him by the court;

~ the court considered Daudu’s attitude towards his father-in-law as im-
proper and contrary (o the norms of decency and an ‘expression of
ingratitude towards lssifu’;

~ on account of this ingratitude, the agreement between the plaintiffand the
defendant should be dissolved;

- nevertheless, Daudu received permission to continue to rent the house
until the rent received was equal to the appraised value of the house by the
survey department in N'zara, fixed at 240,000 frs.cfa, (FF 4,400);

- for the implementation of this agreement, a commission of threc men was
appointed, which apart from Daudu’s father Yaya, consisted of the lin-
cage head of Badara and a member of the council of the court of the
Paramount Chief; this commission was expected (o supervise the rent
seceived monthly by Daudu;

- when the amount of 240,000 frs.cfa had been fully paid, thea 1ssifu became

the owner of the buildings and usufruct once more reverted 10 him:

Daudu was denied access 10 the premises in order 10 prevent the dis-

curbance of public order.”®

WHAT DOFS THE JUDGEMENT [N PRACTICE MEAN?

Let us suppose that the house could be rented ot constantly - a decided
possibility in 1972 - for approximately 2,000 frs.cfa (FF 40) per month. After
ten years the rent would then be equal Lo the appraised value of the house. But
the house would be in a dzlapidated state long before this time, aftec all the
walis werc only made of sundried brick. Nothing would be left. After such &
judgement, one could not expect Daudu to be overzealous in his maintenance
of the place. He himself did not expect much rent. No one would want Lo rent
a house, so he argued, which had just been involved in a litigation suit: la
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maison est un bliment litigieux’, as he himsell expressed it. In addition,
Issifu feared that the commission would not he able to functian cfficiently
because of the mutually strained relations between its members. His fear
proved well grounded, because the commission in fact ceased 10 exist as @
result of mutual tensions and because one of the members became an invalid
Thrice the commission collected 2,000 {ts.cfa from a tenant in 1972, and
nothing thereafter. According to [ssufu’s notes, he maintained that on the Ist
February 1978, 146,000 frs. cfa had been collected, together with 35,000 frs.
cfa paid by us as rent overa period of seven manths in 1971 and 6,000 frs. cfa
vent for three months from the teacher from August to October 1971, aftes
our departure, This brought the ttal to 185,000 frs.cfa, but Daudu called the
notes of Issifu pure fantasy. He claimed there was no question of rent. After
the judgement no one wanted to hire the house, except for the teacher who
sought a roof aver bis head for a short while only. Cansequently, the house
fell into decay and fewer potential renters were interested in it
Information gleancd on the basis of interviews conducted during short
1ips in the peciod 1972-1977, confirmed that after July 1971 the house was no
longer let except to the teacher. However, when we returned to the Mango
province in August 1977 for research into land tenure relations between the
Ngam Ngam and the Anufom, the house was definitely rented out. 1t was in a
state of delapidation. but when we returned in December of thar same year, o
stay in N'zara for a few months, there were stones and new building material
Iving around the house. 1t was still occupicd by people, now by labourers in
the employ of a French road construction company, which was based at
N'zara during the construction of the north-south route Lomé-Dapadn

WHY THE CHANGE?

As aresult of the arcival of the road construction company, many foreigners
were in search of housing. Rents flew sky high - sufficient reasan for Daudu
1o improve his house. He also wanted to profit from this speculation in
houscs

There is. however, another, more important reason. In June/July 1978,
Yaka together with another memoer of his family, approached Daudu with
an offer o sell the land. He is reported to have said that it saddened him to see
the bouse falling into further decay just because his ‘brother® Issifu did not
want any reconciliation. They also reproached Issifu for acting under pres-
sure from Badara, whose lincage elders were then in conflict with Yaya (sce
hereafter). The conirar de venre signed on the 2nd August 1977, reads:
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contrar de vente
de terrain non bai

Je soussigné Komna Adam Yaka, cultivateur i Mango (quartier Dyabu), chef de
famille Komna teconnait avoir vend: une palcc\lcdcvcrram de 124,11 ca96sisi
Mango (Dyabu) YayaD.

service au commissariat de Police de la Ville do Mango a une valear de (40.000
frs.cfa) QUARANTE MILLE francs. Cetic somme a été payée ce jour méme.

Mango, le 2 Aout 1977

Facquéreur e vendeur
Yaya Daudu (signature) Komna Adam Yaki
(signature)
temoins
Te Yaya Abdulazii le Komna Mamadu
2 Bulare Abudu 2 Komna Kome

v le Chef Supérieur de Mango
Na Tyaba Tyekura,

This contrat de vente was aimed at persuading the District Officer to ssuc the
so-called certificar adminisiratif. Together with the file (survey sketch, plans,
etc)), the cerrificat would be sent to the Service des Domaines at Lomé. Here
the title deed would eventually be inscribed in the livrer foncier, the land
register; and a copy dispatched to the persons concerned (see Gasse 1971),
But it had not come 10 this yet. When Daudu showed the contrat de vente to
us. all the signatures were missing, except those of himself and Yak:

“This offer 10 sell did not remain undetected by Issifu. It caused a huge row
and there were said to be blows. Issifu was furious that his younger brother
Yaka should so openly undermine his authority as lineage elder by negotia-
ting with Daudu without his knowledge. Tn the heat of the debate, Yaka
snarled at his brother that he no longer recognized him as head of the
(minimal) lincage. Issifu immediately informed the head of the Mamshi
patri-clan with a request to mediate. A family council was convened, but
Yaka refused 10 cooperate. During the consultations not a word was said
about the sale. When we asked why this significant point was not raised, the
clan head simply shrugged his shoulders. He had it from hearsay that Yaka
wanted 10 sell the Jand, but as long as he did not have it from the horse’s
mouth, he refused to question him about it. That would only have complica-
ted the matter. He wondered how legitimate the contract was, since the
witnesses of both the seller and the buyer were direct kin (half-brothers, same
father). None of those present at the deliberations wanted to raise the
question of the sale. We were given o understand in no uncertain terms that




188 Anthropology of law in the Netherlands

this would only lead to an escalation of the dispute. An important fact was
that Yaka no longer wished to recognize Issifu’s authority. Until this day,
they still live together, but Yaki has threatened to leave the house. It appears
that such an unbridgeable gap between two brothers can be the basis for a
split in a lincage

POLITICAL OCCURRENCES

Meanwhile, at local level, various political events oceurred which delayed the
administralive process leading Lo the issuing of the ecrtificar edministratif.
Daudu failed 10 present the contrat de venie 1o the District Officer. This was
partly due 10 the frequent change of the highest administrative official during
the last years: in a period of sixteen months, this official was replaced three
times. This does not promote normal functioning of the administrative
apparatus, certainly insofar as daily routine matters of issuing signed docu-
ments are concerned

More important was the fact that Daudu’s father, Yaya. in his capacity as
tmam of N'zara, became involved in a rather delicate, political matter. Rich
merchants from ncighbouring Ghana were said to have tried to bribe various
{mams in Togo with money, to persuade them to induce pilgrims 10 go 1o
Mecca. to pray at the geaveside of the Prophet for the fall of the present
President of Togo, General Grassingbé Eyadima, This caused a commotion
in Togo, and various religous leaders were subsequently stripped of their
titles and removed from office. Relations between Ghana and Togo- already
far from rosy because of the cver smouldering Ewe dispute (cf. Coleman
1956: Schram 1962; Viering, 1969) - deteriorated further. imam Yaya infor-
med the then Paramount Chief, Na Tyaba Tyekura about the Ghanaian
request, who at once dismissed the request for fear of official reaction
Presumably, the Imam hesitated just (00 long to convince the administration
of his innocence. He was immediately arrested.'” Eight months later, in
February 1978, he was releascd, but had by then lost bis function as Imam of
N'zara, His incarceration was apparently the last steaw, for ever since bis
appointment in 1975, there has been serious criticism levelled at him. Karamo
lineages, as the importan house of Gono. but also segmeats of the house of
Kambaya (from which the Imam himself came), had in the past intimated
that shey considered Yaya unsuitable for the office on account of the doubts
about his potency to beget more children (ef. Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal
and Van Rouveroy van Nieuwaab-Baerends 1976: 70 1)

Yaya. however, with the help of the Paramount Chic, Na Tyaba Tyekura,
still managed to succed his father as the fourteenth Imam of N'zara, since the
seuling there of the Anufom from the Ivory Coast (¢l Van Rouveroy van
Nicuwaal and Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal-Bacrends 1976: 75). This ap-
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pointment immediately led to a schism in the patri-clan Kambaya and a
boycott of the Friday prayers in the Great Mosque in Kambaya, buill by
Yaya's father, Al Hadji Sani Abdulaye. * This, among other things. led ta
people refusing to invite Yaya to precede them in the prayers said for a
deccased person. This social boycott was a bitter pill to swallow.

Another event which went against Daudu, was the all from affice of the
Paramount Chief Na Tyaba Tyekura. Apart from other irregularities the
Paramount Chief was accused of accepting bribes when seuling disputes.
Opponents from his own ranks, supported by members of other patrili-
neages, among them the house which according to Anufo constitutional
concepts could produce the Paramount Chief, managed to discredit him with
the Head of State.'® He was put out of office from 19th September 1977, while
Yaya was still in detention. His opponents managed 10 secure the suceession
of the Paramountcy and three months later one Anzumana®®, of the patri-
clan Sangbana, became the new Paramount Chief. This group also appointed
u candidate from their own ranks as Imam.” However, this appointment oo
led rather quickly to vehement conflict, this time between the new Paramount
Chief Anzumana and the District Officer. Shortly after the appointment of
the new Imam the District Officer positioned himself al the exit of the Friday
Maosque used by the new Imam. When the service was aver on Friday at one
o'clock, he loudly asked the new Paramount Chief Anzumana ‘who gave him
the authority ta choose and appoint the new Imant’. Anzumana considered
this an untoward interference by the administration in tcal religious affairs,
and calted in the help of the President of the Republic, General Gnassingbé
Eyadéma. The latter immediately dismissed the District Officer.

It is understandable why Daudu left the case with Issifu alone during his
father's term of imprisonment. After all, he had litile choice, since, apart
from s father, the lincage head of the patri-clan Kambaya was also incarce-
rated. If he had persisted with the signatures. it would have been held against
him in his own circles. That meant that in April 1978 no other signatures
appeared on the contrar de vente, except thuse of Daudu and Yaki, not
unough 10 approach the District Officer with a request 10 issue the cerrificar
administratif. Also he could not expect the new Paramount Chicf Anzumana
1 be well disposed to the son of the deposed Imam Yaya and to uppend his
signature to the contract of sale.

These factors imperilled Daudu's chances of becoming the owner of the
plot of land, in terms of national Jaw. He, however, draws hope from the
recently implemented land law reform.?* The adage of this national law
ceforn is after all: distribuer la 1erve i ceux qui pewvent Putiliser. Daudy had
been true 1o the adage by using the soil. To what extent the land law reform
will really be of help to him, only time will tell. It would be beyond the bounds
of this article 10 go into every detail of this law refarm,
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SUMMARY

The above dispute is an illuminating example of the selective use of legal
systems and the administration of justice for different purposes. Issifu called
in the Paramount Chief (0 force Daudu to stop meddling with his wife, while
before the Justice of the Peace, his main demand was the dissolution of the
agreement concerning the use of land. This selective use of judicial avenues, is
one of the consequences of the legal pluralism which still exists in many
countries.? In this situation, different systems of law are applied in different
law courts, cach representing various systems of law and culture. In such
cases, it s obvious that men and women won't hesitate to play the various law
courts against one anather, in their search for as favourable a settlement as
possible. In the meantime, they (i.c. the litigants) mobilize the courts 1o
increase their power - if any - over their opponents (cf. Silliman 1981: 90). Itis
a situation which is described elsewhere in this reader for Indonesia, but
which is cqually known in other parts of Africa (cf. R.E.S. Tanner 1970: 35
49; K. von Benda-Beck 1981). Itisan strategy, but not
very acceptable in terms of jud . because th

which law of which judge is the prevailing law. On the other hand, hese
manipulations have the advantage that a certain control is cxercised over the
actions and docisions of the operative law courts (cf. Griffiths 1977)

In addition, this dispute illustrates that two completely different judicial
matters - that of adultery and of 2 land dispute - in customary law cannot be
separated. Neither the Paramount Chicf nor the Justice of the Peace could
circumvent this, although one would expect the latter judicial authority to act
differently, for he is trained to separatc matters. But the approach of both
judges differed greatly. Thus, the Paramount Chief falls back on the cerrificar
administratif in order to avoid involvement in an internal quarrel and to
obviate a bitter conflict with important persons in the city such as the Imam
As a result of the manifold “interest” he has with the persons involved in this
case, he would rather not try it, By way of evidence for this, there is the fact
that the Paramount Chief tries the dispute in the passage of the palace which
is not accessible (o cveryone, Furthermore, the Paramount Chief limits
himself 10 a condemnation of Daudu’s behaviour. He cannot completely
avoid th of the flagrant { the rule that a man may
not have any contact with the wifc of his (classificatory) father-in-law. Only
in guarded terms does he raise the question between Yaya and himself, a
tension which has arisen as a result of a relationship regarded by the Chief as
undesirable and aduiterous between his ex-wife and the younger classificato-
ry brother of Imam Yaya (a matter not raised before the Justice of the Peace).
The Paramount Chicf has. however, on several occasions given indications of
his disapproval - the sarcastic remarks directed towards Yaya and Daudu are
evidence of this - but he still does not suceeed in forcing Yaya to say that he
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would pul pressure on his son o break of his relationship with Issifu’s wife.
Class differences play an important role throughout and here especially.
Daudu belongs 1o the karamom and Tssifu is a ngye, recently converted 1o
Istam. In matlers concerning women, the karamom often exploit their social
ascendancy. In this case the Paramount Chief appears to collide with Daudu
on this, o the basis of purely personal interests - his desire to avoid a head-on
confrontatian with one of the important karamé houses, in casu, the patri-
clan of ex-lmam Yaya, and consequently, he Lries to get rid of the dispute as
quickly as possible

In contrast, the Justice of the Peace has much freer hand than the Para-

mount Chief and. contrary to the former Judges of the Peace, he has a far loss
steictly formal interpretation of his task as judge (cf. Van Rouveroy van
Nieuwaal 1976a: 194-200). He does not hesitate to stretch the extra-contrac-
tual matter concerning ssitu's wite, so that it also touches upon the question
of the use of the land. lle devotes a fair amount of time to it by stating.
expressly in his consideration that the reprehensible behaviour of Dauduisa
serious breach in terms of folk law. Mere, it is the national judge and not the
local judge, who, in the spirit of folk law, deals with and tries to find a
solution for the dispute as a whole.

Iuis still questionable o what cxient the unacceptable behaviour of Daudu
towards lssifu was crucial in the final analysis, for lssifu’s dissolving the
agreement concerning the land. Tssifu had repeatedly stated that the fact that
Daudu rented the house out toa third party without prior consultation and in
10 way shared the rent with him. was a source of constant irritation. This
shows similuritics with the cusc which we have discussed clsewhere (cf. Van
Rouveroy van Nicuwaal 1976a: 121), in which a young man borrowed a gun
from his mothers brother, went hunting with it regularly, sold the game on
the market, but never gave a morsel of it to his uncle. Public opinion turned
against the young man. If Daudu had given a small sum to Issifu regularly,
this would have been interpreted as appreciation of the fact that he had been
allowed usufructuary rights and a recognition of the rights of Issifu's lineage
to the land. This could have been the central issue for Issifu but neither
judicial authorities paid atteation to this particular aspect.

NOTES

1 Ex-Sansanné-Mango, cenamed N'zara in 1974, A circanseription, o7 province. s ealled from
1981 onward a " préfocre

2 Official Journs of Toga of 16 March 1974, pp. 13-115.

301 Tyokossi/Tehokossi as called by the adminisiration and the sursounding population
5o Prost 1981

sroups: see
4 An ex-soldicr experinced this shen he thought he skl g0 sira‘ghi 10 1he Distrier Offieer for
W cernficat aominsirinif, withot inlsnming 1he Pavamounc Chicl. Na Tyaba Tyckura. The
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District Officer refused 10 1ssue the cerigfiear i he did ot hiave forzl proof 1hai the Paramount
Chiel was aware of the tzanster of e Tand. The sase dragged on for manths, because the
ex-soldicr was at logger heads with the Chicf and thererors refused o wform i of the transfer.
There was some progress in this matter only afler our mediation. After the reconciliatuon, the

cersificat was pramprly issucd
5 The most important sociat uait is the patelincal descent group, the awur, with a cepth
extending <o five or six geneations. Fur an exiensive discussion of Ihis toncept sce Van
Rouveroy van Nicwwaal 19762: 101111

6 By e arsival of forcigners, bui also hecause inhabitants from the surrounding cural areas
have settled o the urbian areas since the nearby national wild game reserve Nabulgu was closed
oI in 1972 1o inhabitunts.

7 Fortheexchangeof women betusen hearions e e Van Rouveroyvan Nl and

Van Ruuveioy vau Niewwaal-Bacrends 197
8 Seeor the kinship werminology of L Ko van Rouveroy van Nicuwial 19764 120-249
§ dshibyya, see Van Rouveray van Nicowaal 1976

10 This certificar eads

Je soussigné lssifu), propriciaire ¢1 domicilié 5 Mango, sertlie 2voir faic don &
Monsicor Daudu. commss & la conseription de Mango une paseele de terain
4 adouzcares . quatre
vingtseire (127 163/96) pour cumstruite une maison d°habitation sis av quactier
Dyabu. Le terrain et limité ai Noed et & 'Oucst par la propritzé de Mansicur
Issifu, au Sud par une fuc non dénommée e1 & I'Est par une cue non dénommée

Le terrain serait la propricté de Monsieur Daudu et il pourrait faire nimporte
quetle consuuction la-dessus

Le donateur Facquéreur
Monsient lssif Monsicn Daudu
(it prny (signature)

J1 Boraba ni byesi ba = @ child (baj of « woman fbaraj and ui {a child) of a man (hyéve); a
marriage between cross-cousis is looked upon as a marriage of preference
12 Also Abudu will benefit from a reconciliation, because lssifu and his brothers have
Uhreaerd 1o 1ake avsay heir sster Nadana wnd her ehilcren from him i he dozs not succeed in
prsuading the waman to retuen to Lssifs. But Jssifi’s theeas can't mean much becase Abudu
realizes hat [ssifu does no1 wish 10 incur the wrath of his deccased uncie his father’s younger
brother and the father f Yak. who at the time had himself given Nadana in marria
patrilincage of Kambaya. Hewho acts against he will of an ancestor, runs the risk of being tuken
10 1ask by bis ancestors. He can be condemncd by his ancestors avhyéngu dioré, literally: a
seonence (dyoré) under the ground (ashy?). The outcome of this consultation between the
ancestors s called 2 samanda,  curse/pusishment. See: Van Rovveroy van Niewwaal 1976 121
13 e fata simular dispete 10 tiat betsecn Dauds ané Tssifu is involved kerc: ihe Parameamt
Chief and the adulterer wece also ki
14 Called le. For a skewch of the cousthall sex Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal 1976b; Van
Rouseruy van Nicowaal and Van Rouvervy van Nicuscasl-Bacrends 19755, 1981
15 A not unnecessary provision, since Daudu has repeatedly said that he would 1ear off the
corrugated rool with violenee if the valuation of the house is not higher.

rding 1o local standards the rent wes 100 high but thea, 3 foreigaer offen pays i 100
much. During the sessions of the Justice of the Peace, Daudu disputes the fact that this income
st ot e oled as reat, heeanise b nad eome 10 an ay-semeal with us that shis amoun: would
ot be made over 1o him, but sould be used for improvements to the house. This did iac
bappen,




The plot of the sophisticated son in law 193

1 Fom with
tion were of imam For
s reason there was o official prosceution. They only wanicd 10 set an example by depriving.
him of his freedom of moverneat through deteation 2t the police burcau. where he enjoyed a
seasonable amount of fecedom.

18 See our film Muslim in Mango, 1978 (1985).

19 Compare in this respect the manner in which the Anufo chiel Na Byema Asabyé was
deposed in 1896 during the German colonial rule. C. Van Rouveray van Nicuwaal 1976a: 75.
20 See our fim In Scarch of Jusice. 1981

21 For the role of the Paramount Chicf in the choice and appointmeat of the Imam, sec Van
Rouveroy van Nicuwaal and Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal-Bacrends 1976: 70,

22 Cf. Bacheler 1975. Berthclet 1979, Ducat 1975, Van Rouveroy van Niewwaal 1979.

23 For the concep dichotom see, among others, Baxi 1979, Marasinghe 1979, Burman 1979
and Van Rouveroy van Nicuwaal 1979.

. we know that
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